RECEIVED

Oct 24 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2022-001602

---

Rene S. Wells and Wilson Shealy, Jr.,  
as Co-Personal Representatives of  
Wilson Shealy, Sr.,

Respondent,

v.

David Shealy,

Appellant.

---

David Shealy,

Appellant,

v.

Rene Shealy Wells, Wilson Shealy, Jr.,  
and Mimi Shealy,

Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

TOBIAS G. WARD, JR., PA

s/ J. Derrick Jackson

Tobias G. Ward, Jr., S.C. Bar No. 5826

J. Derrick Jackson, S.C. Bar No. 15192

Post Office Box 50124

Columbia, South Carolina 29250

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE PROBATE NON-CLAIM STATUTE WHEN APPELLANT'S CLAIMS WERE FILED AND PENDING PRIOR TO DECEDENTS DEATH AND CONCERNED TITLE TO PROPERTY?
  
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING THIRD PARTY DEFENDANT-RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THE RECORD VIEWED IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE APPELLANT SHOWS THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 13, 2018, Wilson Shealy, Sr. initiated this lawsuit against his son, the Appellant David Shealy (civil action number 2018-CP-32-00913). (R. p. 398). Wilson Shealy, Sr. alleged that David Shealy (a) breached his fiduciary duty, (b) engaged in defalcation of trust, (c) converted Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s funds, (d) sought the imposition of a constructive trust and resulting trust on any property purchased using Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s funds, and (e) sought the sale of personal property for the paying of storage fees. (R. pp. 404-406).

On July 23, 2018, the parties entered a Consent Order for Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction against David Shealy, which prohibited David from coming on the property where Wilson Shealy, Sr. resided (the "Real Property") or otherwise contacting or being within 500 feet of Wilson Shealy, Sr. or David's siblings, Wilson Shealy, Jr., Rene Shealy Wells, and Mimi Shealy. (R. p. 53). The Consent Order further allowed David Shealy to submit a list of claimed personal property stored on the Real Property, which David filed on July 25, 2018. (R. p. 367).

After the trial court vacated an Order of Default, David Shealy filed an Answer, Counterclaim, and Third Party Complaint against Wilson Shealy, Jr., Renee Shealy Wells, and Mimi ("Third Party Defendant-Respondents") on October 2, 2018. (R. p. 353). David Shealy

alleged that his personal property (the “Personal Property”) stored on the Real Property was converted by his father and the Third Party Defendant-Respondents. (R. pp. 358-360). David Shealy included a counterclaim and cause of action against the Third Party Defendants for conversion and incorporated the July 25, 2018, list of claimed personal property as “Exhibit A.” (R. p. 363).

On September 9, 2019, David Shealy filed a motion to allow an independent inventory and accounting conducted via video, (R. p. 333), and incorporated a list of claimed personal property with a map of the items’ locations on the Real Property as “Exhibit A”, (R. p. 337). An independent inventory was never agreed to by the parties. The earlier Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction was modified by an Order on November 8, 2019, to allow David Shealy to assist the independent third party in the inventory and accounting on the Real Property. (R. p. 31).

The parties mediated this case on November 13, 2019, without success. (R. p. 414, ¶¶ 15-25).

On February 19, 2020, David Shealy filed an Amended Answer, Counterclaims, and Third Party Complaint alleging Wilson Shealy, Sr. and the Third Party Defendant-Respondents (a) converted David Shealy’s personal property that was stored on the Real Property, (b) engaged in civil conspiracy for the purpose of causing financial damage to David Shealy, (c) breached the fiduciary duty to ensure David Shealy’s personal property was safe and redelivered to David, and (d) negligence in failing to keep safe and redeliver David’s personal property. <sup>1</sup>(R. pp. 322-330).

---

<sup>1</sup> David Shealy later withdrew his counterclaim and third party cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty at the August 4, 2022, hearing on summary judgment. (R. p. 13).

The trial court entered a Consent Order pursuant to Rule 40(j) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure on February 28, 2020, (R. p. 26), striking the case from the docket with the right of the parties to restore the case as provided by the Rule. Rule 40(j), SCRPC.

Wilson Shealy, Sr. passed away on December 30, 2020. (R. p. 277). Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s Estate (2021-ES-32-00073) (the "Probate Estate") was opened on January 15, 2021, and two of his children Rene Shealy Wells and Wilson Shealy, Jr. were appointed as co-personal representatives. (R. p. 270, ¶¶ 2-3).

Upon motion by the Plaintiff, this lawsuit was restored to the active docket under Rule 40(j) SCRPC by an Order dated February 25, 2021, and the trial court assigned it the new case number 2021-CP-32-00633. (R. p. 23). On March 17, 2022, Rene Shealy Wells and Wilson Shealy, Jr., as co-personal representatives of Wilson Shealy, Sr. ("Plaintiff-Respondent") were substituted as the Plaintiff. (R. p. 17).

On April 7, 2021, William Walker sought to withdraw as counsel for David Shealy. (R. p. 307). Tobias G. Ward, Jr. was substituted as counsel for David Shealy by a Consent Order on March 11, 2022. (R. p. 20).

The Plaintiff-Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to David Shealy's claim to personal property and all counterclaims on March 21, 2022. (R. p. 269). The Third Party Defendant-Respondents filed a different Motion for Summary Judgment as to David Shealy's third party claims on April 18, 2022. (R. p. 261). On August 1, 2022, David Shealy filed Memorandums in Opposition to each Motion for Summary Judgment, (R. p. 221; R. p. 213), and a sworn affidavit, (R. p. 62). A detailed list of claimed personal property was incorporated as "Exhibit A" to the affidavit. (R. p. 69). Four other exhibits were incorporated as evidence of portions of the personal property. (R. p. 85; R. p. 87; R. p. 148; R. p. 162). A hearing on

summary judgment with the Honorable Walter J. McLeod was held on August 4, 2022. (R. p. 1). The trial court entered an Order Granting Summary Judgment as to David Shealy's counterclaims and third party claims on October 7, 2022. (R. p. 1). David Shealy timely appealed the trial court's Order, now before the Court of Appeals.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact, and it is clear the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). "Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts." *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 362, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002) (citation omitted).

Since it is a drastic remedy, a summary judgment "should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Watson v. Southern Ry. Co.*, 420 F. Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C. 1975); *see also Holloman v. McAllister*, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) (summary judgment is "an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked"). "This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery." *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1990).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. *See Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt.*

*Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009). In *Hancock*, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Id.* at 330, 673 S.E.2d at 803. More than a scintilla is required only in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law. *Id.* at 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803.

### **FACTS**

David Shealy resided for 53 years with his father, Wilson Shealy, Sr., (R. p. 395, ¶ 5), on the Real Property that Wilson Shealy, Sr. leased from South Carolina Electric and Gas, now known as Dominion Energy (“Dominion”), (R. pp. 207-211). Before this lawsuit, David Shealy spoke with his father on a regular basis on the phone or by visiting his home. (R. p. 395, ¶ 7). Until this lawsuit, Wilson Shealy, Sr. allowed David Shealy to store his Personal Property on the Real Property, never told David he could not store his Personal Property there, and never told David he needed to pay storage fees to do so. (R. p. 325, ¶ 21). Wilson Shealy, Sr. also collected many similar items of his own personal property, including, for instance, cars, aircraft, and various scrap and antiques, which were stored on the Real Property and intermingled with David’s Personal Property. (R. pp. 69-84).

David Shealy believes this lawsuit was instigated by his siblings, the Third Party Defendant-Respondents, who had influence over his father. (R. pp. 396-397, ¶ 17; R. p. 66, ¶ 2). Wilson Shealy, Sr. appointed Wilson Shealy, Jr. and Rene Shealy Wells as his co-attorneys in a General Durable Power of Attorney executed on June 30, 2011. (R. p. 376).

Because of this lawsuit and the subsequent Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction, David Shealy was required to vacate his home at the Real Property and leave behind most of his Personal Property. (R. pp. 333-336). The Personal Property includes numerous cars, trucks, trailers, aircraft, vehicle parts, equipment, guns and ammunition, and many personal items. (R.

pp. 69-84). Due to David Shealy's exclusion from the Real Property, it has been difficult for him to completely inventory his large collection of Personal Property. (R. pp. 333-336; R. pp. 7, line 25-p. 9, line 9; R. p. 420, ¶¶ 13-20). Many of David Shealy's records to his Personal Property were on the Real Property in his bedroom where he lived for most of his life but now cannot access. (R. p. 7, line 25-p.9, line 5). Nevertheless, David Shealy has made a good faith effort to provide the court with an inventory and accounting of his Personal Property. In following the Consent Order of July 23, 2018, David Shealy filed a list of his claimed personal property on July 25, 2018. (R. pp. 367-371). More recently, on August 1, 2020, David Shealy filed a sworn affidavit, (R. p. 66), which incorporated as exhibits a more complete list of claimed property and evidence of specific property claims, (R. pp. 69-84).

On October 23, 2019, the trial court granted David Shealy's Motion to allow an independent inventory and accounting conducted via video. (R. p. 35). The Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction was later modified by Order on November 8, 2019, to allow David Shealy to accompany a third party to take inventory on the Real Property. (R. p. 31). However, the parties never agreed to an independent inventory of the property. David Shealy also motioned to modify the Preliminary Injunction further on July 22, 2022, in order to access the Real Property in some supervised fashion. (R. p. 11, lines 4-9). However, the court denied David's Motion. While David Shealy has been excluded from the Real Property during the lawsuit, David Shealy alleges Wilson Shealy, Sr. and the Third Party Defendant-Respondents have taken, removed, damaged, or destroyed David Shealy's Personal Property, which was lawfully stored on the property where David resided. (R. p. 325, ¶ 24).

On December 30, 2020, Wilson Shealy, Sr. passed away. (R. p. 277). On the date of Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s death, David Shealy's Personal Property remained on the Real Property as

the lawsuit was paused without final judgment, and the Preliminary Injunction stayed in place. Pursuant to Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s Last Will and Testament, (R. p. 278), all personal property in Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s possession passed into a Trust, (R. p. 287).

Also, Wilson Shealy, Sr.'s lease of the Real Property from Dominion expired upon his death. (R. p. 188). Wilson Shealy, Jr., Mimi E. Shealy, Rene Shealy, The Estate of Wilson Shealy, Sr., and the Wilson Shealy Trust (the "Shealy Parties") entered a Right of Entry ("ROE") agreement with Dominion on February 17, 2022, which has several relevant terms. (R. pp. 186-212). David Shealy was not a party to this agreement.

Under the ROE, the Shealy Parties agree to the following: "a. To secure the Personal Property. b. To maintain the Personal Property. c. To remove or allow to be removed any Personal Property that belongs to any third party." (R. p. 189). And the ROE grants the Shealy Parties permission to the following: "a. To inspect and catalog or index the Personal Property b. To appraise the value of the Personal Property. c. To conduct private and public auctions of the Personal Property. d. To allow third parties that purchase any Personal Property to remove the same from the Real Property." (R. p. 189).

The ROE specifies that, "So long as the Consent Order for Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction issued in Civil Action Number 2018-CP-32-0913 is effective, the Shealy Parties shall coordinate and work together to remove any Personal Property belonging to David J. Shealy." (R. p. 191, ¶ 8.f.). The ROE acknowledges that Dominion's limitation on Access is not a conversion of David Shealy's personal property. (R. p. 191, ¶ 8.g.). The ROE states, "The responsibility to secure, preserve, or insure the Personal Property shall remain the sole obligation of the Obligated Parties. Civil Action Number 2018-CP-320913 shall have no impact on the responsibilities of the Shealy Parties as outlined in this Agreement." (R. p. 192, ¶ 9.). The ROE

set a deadline to secure all personal property on the premises by August 31, 2022, but that deadline has been extended. (R. p. 193, ¶ 15.b.).

The Plaintiff-Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on March 21, 2022. (R. p. 269). That Motion alleges that David Shealy's claims to any personal property and counterclaims against the Plaintiff-Respondent are barred because David did not file a claim with the Estate of Wilson Shealy, Sr. within one year of the decedent's death in compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)(1). (R. pp. 4-7). David Shealy admits that he did not file a "claim" *with the estate*; however, for the reasons discussed herein, he did not need to, and the trial court erred in granting the Plaintiff-Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

On April 18, 2022, the Third Party Defendant-Respondents filed a separate Motion for Summary Judgment challenging the sufficiency of each of the claims made in David Shealy's Third Party Complaint. (R. p. 261). As there are genuine issues of material fact regarding each claim, the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Third Party Defendant-Respondents.

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS.**

The trial court erred in deciding that as a matter of law David Shealy's claims to personal property and counterclaims were barred under the South Carolina Probate Code (the "Probate Code").

The Plaintiff-Respondent argues that the passing of decedent of Wilson Shealy, Sr., and the creation of the Probate Estate required David Shealy to file a claim against the estate. (R. p. 12). Plaintiff-Respondent contends that David Shealy's claims to personal property and

counterclaims are barred by § 62-3-803(a)(1) of the Probate Code (the “nonclaim statute”), (R. p. 9), which states:

All claims against the decedent’s estate which arose before the death of the decedent, including claims of the State and any political subdivision thereof, whether due or to become due, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, founded on contract, tort, or other legal basis, if not barred earlier by another statute of limitations or nonclaim statute; are barred against the estate, the personal representative, the decedent’s heirs and devisees, and nonprobate transferees of the decedent; unless presented within the earlier of the following:

- (1) one year after the decedent’s death.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)(1) (2014). The Plaintiff-Respondent contends that under § 62-3-803(a)(1), David Shealy did not file his claims against *the estate* within one year of Wilson Shealy Sr.’s death. (R. p. 9).

However, the nonclaim statute does not bar David Shealy’s claims to personal property and counterclaims because (A) these claims were “pending” at the time of the decedent, Wilson Shealy, Sr.’s, death and (B) disputes regarding the title of assets alleged to be included in an estate are not “claims against the decedent’s estate” covered under § 62-3-803(a)(1) of the Probate Code. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)(1) (2014).

***A. The Appellant’s claims were filed and “pending” at the time of Wilson Shealy, Sr.’s death.***

David Shealy’s claims to personal property and counterclaims were “pending” at the time of Wilson Shealy, Sr.’s death and were not barred by the nonclaim statute. Section 62-3-804 of the Probate Code states:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, no presentation of a claim is required in regard to matters claimed in proceedings against the decedent which were *pending* at the time of the decedent’s death.” (Emphasis added).

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-804 (2014).

The procedural history of this case shows that David Shealy asserted his claims to personal property and counterclaims against the decedent, Wilson Shealy, Sr., in the Amended Answer, Counterclaims, and Third Party Complaint filed on February 19, 2020. (R. p. 322). At that time, Wilson Shealy, Sr. was still living and was the Plaintiff in this lawsuit. (R. p. 322). Therefore, David Shealy's claims to personal property and counterclaims were matters claimed in proceedings against the decedent which were pending at the time of the decedent's death under § 62-3-804, and a second presentation of the claim was not required under the Probate Code.

The Consent Order entered by the parties to strike this action from the docket under Rule 40(j), SCRCF expressly states, "This striking of the pleadings shall be without prejudice to the restoring of the case to the active roster." (R. p. 26). The language of the Consent Order satisfies the intent of § 62-3-804 of the Probate Code that it is not necessary to file another claim against the estate when an existing claim has already been filed against the decedent while living.

Further, whether the nonclaim statute in the Probate Code bars a claim against a decedent when the claim was asserted but stricken from the docket by SCRCF Rule 40(j) prior to the decedent's death is a novel issue in South Carolina and should not have been decided here by summary judgment.

The trial court cited *Goodwin v. Landquest Development, LLC*, (R. p. 11), which wrote, "While our rules do not clearly provide that striking a case pursuant to Rule 40(j) is a dismissal, there is a basis in our law for considering a case stricken pursuant to the rule as the equivalent of dismissed." 414 S.C. 623, 630-631, 779 S.E.2d 826, 830 (Ct. App. 2015). The *Goodwin* Court went on to discuss the historical foundation of Rule 40(j) by considering the notes to 1994 amendments to the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and statutory history. *Id.* at 630-31,

779 S.E.2d at 830-31. However, the *Goodwin* Court's considerations of Rule 40(j) were in dicta, as *Goodwin* concerned whether the tolling requirements of a bankruptcy statute governing extension of time to commence or continue a non-bankruptcy action after termination of stay applied to bar the restoration of the action before the Court. *Id.* at 625-626, 779 S.E.2d at 828. The Court ruled that the tolling requirements of SCRPC Rule 40(j), governing cases stricken from the docket by agreement, was not controlling. *Id.* at 630, 779 S.E.2d at 830. Without clear guidance from the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure about whether a case stricken from the docket by Rule 40(j) is pending or dismissed, other jurisdictions provide more persuasive interpretations of pendency. Further, this court should be guided by the intent of the statute.

Looking to other jurisdictions, Pennsylvania has held that, "Pendency, in practice, has been said to be 'the state of an undetermined proceeding.' 70 C.J.S., p. 420. Black's Law Dictionary, 3rd Ed., p. 1345, defines the term as 'the state of an action, etc., after it has been begun, and *before the final disposition of it.*'" *School Dist. of Robinson Twp. v. Houghton*, 387 Pa. 236, 241, 128 A.2d 58, 60 (Pa. 1956).

In Michigan, the Supreme Court referred to Black's Law Dictionary (6th ed.) for the following definition of "pending":

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