RECEIVED

Oct 26 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-32-00633
Appellate Case No. 2022-001602

Rene S. Wells and Wilson Shealy, Jr.
as Co-Personal Representatives of
Wilson Shealy, Sr., Respondent,

v.

David Shealy, Appellant.

AND

David Shealy, Appellant,

v.

Rene Shealy Wells, Wilson Shealy, Jr.,
and Mimi Shealy, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

GLEISSNER LAW FIRM, LLC

BLAND RICHTER, LLP

s/Richard R. Gleissner
Richard R. Gleissner, Esquire
S.C. Bar Number 15139
Gleissner Law Firm, L.L.C.
1316 Washington Street, Suite 101

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

A. The Trial Court Rightly held that the Appellant failed to present sufficient evidence of Conversion.

The trial court appropriately ruled that Appellant failed to present any specific facts establishing a genuine issue for trial. The Appellant is not permitted to simply rest on allegations where, as here, the majority of the allegations are conclusory in nature. *Dawkins*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433; see Rule 56(e), SCRCP ("an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth **specific facts** showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.")(emphasis added). Rule 56(e) requires that affidavits: "[1] shall be made on personal knowledge, [2] shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and [3] shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." Rule 56(e), SCRCP. "[U]ltimate or conclusory facts and conclusions of law, as well as statements made on ... 'information and belief,'" do not meet the standards of Rule 56 and "cannot be utilized on a summary-judgment motion." *Dawkins*, 354 S.C. at 68, 580 S.E.2d at 438 (citing Wright, *Miller & Kane* § 2738).

The Appellant erroneously asserts that an affidavit identifying property is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a claim of conversion. In South Carolina, however, "[c]onversion is the 'unauthorized assumption and exercise of the right of ownership over goods or personal chattels

belonging to another, to the exclusion of the owner's rights.” *Bank of N.Y. v. Sumter Cnty.*, 387 S.C. 147, 158, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010) (quoting *Moore v. Weinberg*, 383 S.C. 583, 589, 681 S.E.2d 875, 878 (2009)). “Conversion may arise by some illegal use or misuse, or by illegal detention of another's personal property.” *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 667, 582 S.E.2d 432, 442 (2003). Thus, the Appellant must provide evidence that (1) he owned or had a right to possess certain pieces of personal property; (2) Appellants Siblings gained control and possession of the property or wrongfully prevented the plaintiff from using the property; and (3) Appellants Siblings did this without his permission. The Appellant’s reliance upon an ever-evolving and vague list of property, along with general statements upon information and belief, fail to present specific facts supporting the three elements required under South Carolina law and, therefore, was rightly dismissed by the trial court.

The trial court rightly saw through the sham affidavit of Appellant in granting summary judgment as to his conversion claims. While “the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, [...] it is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.” *McMaster v. Dewitt*, 411 S.C. 138, 143, 767 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2014) (citations omitted). A trial court may exclude an affidavit when it was submitted “to contradict that party's own prior sworn statement” in “an attempt to create a sham issue of material fact.” *Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 218, 592 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2004). When delineating between a sham affidavit and a correcting or clarifying affidavit, the Court looks to the following considerations:

- (1) whether an explanation is offered for the statements that contradict prior sworn statements;
- (2) the importance to the litigation of the fact about which there is a contradiction;
- (3) whether the nonmovant had access to this fact prior to the previous sworn testimony;
- (4) the frequency and degree of variation between

statements in the previous sworn testimony and statements made in the later affidavit concerning this fact; (5) whether the previous sworn testimony indicates the witness was confused at the time; (6) when, in relation to summary judgment, the second affidavit is submitted.

Id. . Here, the Appellant submitted multiple conflicting sworn statements with regard to what property he was alleging was not only his personal property, but property converted by the Appellant's Siblings.

The sworn statements of the Appellant might generally be described as presenting the following factual assertion: "I left my stuff at my dad's place, there was a lot of stuff, and I am pretty sure some of my stuff is missing." The Trial Court rightly found these assertions wanting for purposes of refuting the motions for summary judgment. The sworn statements of the Appellant included several classes of personal property, he alleged was located at his Deceased Father's property, but only some of it was converted by his Deceased Father, his Siblings, or some combination of the same. These included: (a) motor vehicles and motor vehicle parts; (b) boats and boat parts; (c) storage tanks; (d) trailers; (e) cargo containers; (f) consumer goods, including furniture, dishware, grills, and clothing; (g) tools; (h) aircraft parts; (i) sheds/barns; (j) firearms and ammunition; and (k) construction materials. Within these classes of property, Appellant originally listed some 80 pieces of property in his verified answer and third-party complaint. Of these, around 47 of them were motor vehicles. In his verified Answer and Third-Party Complaint, Appellant states that the specific property listed in his exhibit was **consensually** stored at his Deceased Father's property. Appellant's Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint (R. pp. 324-325 ¶¶ 11; and 21-22). Later, Appellant generally alleges that Respondent's had "taken, removed, damaged or destroyed [Appellant's] property," and had "sold and destroyed a significant amount of [Appellant's] personal property." Appellant's Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint (R. pp. 325-327 ¶¶ 24-34). The Appellant took absolutely no

effort to identify any of the more than 80 items of personal property that were specifically taken, removed, damaged, destroyed, or sold. Similarly, no evidence of ownership was presented. *See Tollison v. Reaves*, 277 S.C. 443, 445, 289 S.E.2d 163, 164 (1982) (Supreme Court considered evidence of ownership to include the vehicle being titled in their name, payments for the purchase of the vehicle and any subsequent monthly payments, payments for the insurance, or that they are the sole driver of the vehicle).

In response to the Respondents' motions for summary judgement, Appellant filed another affidavit that contained significant discrepancies with the first. As a general matter, the list of property suddenly included more than 400 items of personal property. Many of the vehicles listed suddenly were listed for their parts rather than for the vehicle itself. Similarly, some of the vehicles are identified with different model years. Some of the items from the original list are all together missing from the second. Further, the second list includes items of personal property specifically described as not being located on Appellant's Deceased Father's property. In contrast to the Appellant's Answer and Third-Party Complaint, the affidavit did list one specific piece of property that was specifically sold by his Deceased Father. It also attached several copies of titles to vehicles, though none of these vehicles were specifically alleged to have been converted. Instead, of listing any other property that was specifically converted, Appellant states that he is "informed and believe[s] that after excluding [him] from the real property and separating [him] from [his] personal property without [his] permission or consent, the [Respondents] began systematic disposal of [his] personal property without [his] consent." Affidavit in Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 67 ¶ 7) (. And that "[w]hile [he is] still reviewing the pictures and auction catalog (R. pp. 162-185), [Appellant]

know[s] that some of the items shown are [his.]” Affidavit in Opposition to Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 67 ¶ 11).

The only justification propounded by Appellant for the discrepancies in the list and the gross over-generalizing was his inability to enter upon the real property of his Deceased Father as a result of a **Consent** Order for Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction entered by the trial court precluding his entering upon the property.¹ Importantly, Appellant was given a multitude of opportunities to personally or through an agent enter his Deceased Father’s property in order to perform an inspection for purposes of determining the full breadth of an inventory. Orders entered on October 23, 2019 (R. pp. 35-37) and November 8, 2019 (R. pp. 31-34). Appellant took none of these opportunities prior to the hearing on the motion for summary judgment. The Appellant was unable to articulate any other justification for the variance to the trial court. No reasonable reading of Appellant’s affidavit would allow for an interpretation that all of his personal property was converted by way of excluding him from his property. The trial court was well aware of the order precluding him from entering the property without prior court approval to have been consented to by Appellant. The trial court was well aware of the many attempts to provide time for the Appellant or his agents to enter the property for purposes of inventorying it. The only reasonable reading of the sworn statements of the Appellant is: “I left my stuff at my dad’s place, there was a lot of stuff, and I am pretty sure some of my stuff is

¹ After being presented with evidence concerning Appellant’s unlawful entry upon the land, removal of property, and threats against Appellant’s Siblings lives, the trial court entered a Consent Order for Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction prohibiting Appellant from entering the property, but also allowing Appellant to subsequently submit an inventory of personal property he claimed was his own and believed was located on his Deceased Father’s property. Order entered on July 23, 2018 (R. pp. 53-55).

missing.” Thus, the trial court was within its right to disregard any evidence presented in the sham affidavit filed just three days prior to the hearing on the motion.

Additionally, nothing in the record demonstrates what personal property of the Appellants, if any, the Respondents assumed the control without authorization. Instead, Appellant asserts the most general allegation against the Respondents collectively. The affidavit is riddled with statements that Appellant is “informed and believe[s]” that certain property was sold by one, some, or all of the Respondents or that his property is listed to be sold at some future date. Further, the affidavit asserts that Appellant’s Siblings agreed to “coordinate and work together to remove any Personal Property” belonging to the Appellant without any statement as to whether some action was taken in furtherance of this promise. Affidavit in Opposition to Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 68 ¶¶ 12-13). The claim of conversion necessarily fails because no evidence of how or which Respondent exercised control over what assets or whether it was done in their individual capacities. Instead, the affidavit of Appellant includes the very conclusory facts and conclusions of law, as well as statements made on ... ‘information and belief,’ that the South Carolina Supreme Court has ruled is inappropriate for a motion for summary judgment. *Dawkins*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433.

The only specific allegations that may be gleaned from the sparse evidence presented in the Appellant’s affidavits deal with the alleged sale of a backhoe and trailer by his Deceased Father. As previously addressed and as found by the trial court, this claim was barred by the Nonclaim statute. No other specific evidence was before the trial court regarding claims for conversion against the Respondents. Thus, the trial court properly granted summary judgment as to the Appellants conversion claims.

B. The Trial Court Rightly held that the Appellant failed to present sufficient evidence of Civil Conspiracy.

Similarly, the trial court rightly granted summary judgment as to Appellant's claim of civil conspiracy. "A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons joining for the purpose of injuring and causing special damage to the plaintiff." *McMillan v. Oconee Mem'l Hosp., Inc.*, 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2006). "Civil conspiracy consists of three elements: (1) a combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, (3) which causes him special damage." *Vaught v. Waites*, 300 S.C. 201, 208, 387 S.E.2d 91, 95 (1989). "The gravamen of the tort of civil conspiracy is the damage resulting to the plaintiff from an overt act done pursuant to a common design." *Cricket Cove Ventures, L.L.C. v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 324, 701 S.E.2d 39, 46 (2010).

The record contains no evidence, only general speculation, that any of the parties conspired with each other for the purpose of harming Appellant. Just as with his claim for conversion, Appellant relies upon generic and speculative statements concerning any conspiracy between the parties. In his brief, Appellant points to allegations that his personal property was moved or sold. There is no mention of who specifically moved or sold them or how his Siblings joined together to accomplish the alleged acts, simply that "upon information and belief" they occurred. Such unsubstantiated allegations are not enough to support a claim for civil conspiracy. *Vaught*, 300 S.C. at 209, 387 S.E.2d at 95 (dismissal is appropriate when the civil conspiracy "cause of action 'does no more than incorporate the prior allegations and then allege the existence of a civil conspiracy'" (quoting *Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 276 S.C. 284, 293, 278 S.E.2d 607, 611 (1981))).

In this case, the Appellant's amended counterclaims fails to allege any separate overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy. "In a civil conspiracy claim, one must plead additional facts in furtherance of the conspiracy separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the

complaint, and the failure to properly plead such acts will merit the dismissal of the claim.” *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, L.L.C.*, 682 S.E.2d 871, 875 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009). Stated another way, “[w]here the particular acts charged as a conspiracy are the same as those relied on as the tortious act or actionable wrong, plaintiff cannot recover damages for such act or wrong, and recover likewise on the conspiracy to do the act or wrong.” *Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 276 S.C. 284, 278 S.E.2d 607, 612 (1981) (quoting 15A C.J.S. *Conspiracy* § 33, at 718), *overruled on other grounds by Paradis*, 861 S.E.2d 779, 779-80 (explaining that the court in *Todd*, 278 S.E.2d at 607, “correctly concluded the civil conspiracy claim failed as a matter of law” where the “only wrongful acts alleged were those for which damages had already been sought” and “the plaintiff’s repetition of the same acts as the prior claims was insufficient to salvage the claim”); *see also Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579, 538 S.E.2d 15, 21 (2000) (“Because [the third party plaintiff] . . . merely realleged the prior acts complained of in his other causes of action as a conspiracy action but failed to plead additional facts in furtherance of the conspiracy, he was not entitled to maintain his conspiracy cause of action.”).

Several inappropriate arguments must be summarily addressed before moving on. First, the Appellant passingly and casually asserts that if the Appellant “is allowed to complete discovery, additional overt acts are likely to be discovered.” Appellants Final Brief P. 17. The argument that summary judgment was premature and additional discovery was needed was not properly raised before the trial court, nor could it rightly be raised after years of Appellants intentional avoidance of discovery, and, therefore, any consideration of this assertion by this Court would be inappropriate. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review.”); *see also*

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